

© <2019>. This manuscript version is made available under the CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 license
<http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/>
The definitive publisher version is available online at <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2019.01.006>

1 **Liquid Biopsies in Cancer Diagnosis, Monitoring and Prognosis**

2 **Gabriele De Rubis^a, Sabna Rajeev Krishnan^a, and Mary Bebawy^{a*}**

3 ^a: **Discipline of Pharmacy, Graduate School of Health, University of Technology**

4 **Sydney Australia - PO Box 123 - Broadway - NSW 2007 Australia**

5

6 **Email addresses:**

7 **Mr. Gabriele De Rubis:** gabriele.derubis@student.uts.edu.au

8 **Dr. Sabna Rajeev Krishnan:** Sabna.RajeevKrishnan@uts.edu.au

9 ***Correspondence:** mary.bebawy@uts.edu.au (Prof Mary Bebawy - Head,

10 **Laboratory Cancer Cell Biology and Therapeutics)**

11 **67 Thomas St, Building 7, Level 4, Ultimo NSW 2007 - Australia.**

12

13 **KEYWORDS:** Cell free DNA, circulating tumour cells; exosomes, liquid biopsy; precision

14 oncology; tumour circulome

15

16 **Liquid Biopsies in Cancer Diagnosis, monitoring and prognosis**

17 **ABSTRACT**

18 Liquid biopsy, consisting in the non-invasive analysis of circulating tumor-derived material
19 (the Tumor Circulome), represents an innovative tool in precision oncology to overcome
20 current limitations associated with tissue biopsies. Within the tumor circulome, ctDNA and
21 CTCs are the only components whose clinical application is FDA-cleared. Extracellular vesicles,
22 ctRNA and tumor-educated platelets are relatively novel tumor circulome constituents with
23 promising potential at each stage of cancer management. Here, we discuss the clinical
24 applications of each element of the tumor circulome and the prevailing factors that currently
25 limit implementation in clinical practice. We also detail the most recent technological
26 developments in the field, which demonstrate potential in improving the clinical value of
27 liquid biopsies.

28

29

30 **Liquid Biopsies – Investigating the “Tumor Circulome”**

31 Cancer is one of the leading causes of death worldwide, with 8.8 million deaths estimated in
32 [2015](#). In the USA, more than 1,735,350 cases of cancer are foreseen to be diagnosed in 2018,
33 causing more than 609,640 deathsⁱⁱ. The development of “omics” technologies has led to the
34 field of precision oncology that consists of tailoring treatment regimens to an individual’s
35 tumor molecular characteristics [1]. The current golden standard for genetic profiling of
36 tumors typically involves the use of tissue biopsies. Because of their invasive nature, tissue
37 biopsies are associated with many limitations including patient risk, sample preparation,
38 **sensitivity** (see Glossary) and accuracy, procedural costs and invasive testing. This makes the
39 procedure incompatible for clinical **longitudinal monitoring** [2]. Furthermore, a significant
40 limitation of tissue biopsies is that they fail to capture intratumoral and intermetastatic
41 **genetic heterogeneity**, impacting the accuracy of the test [3].

42 Liquid biopsies present great potential in overcoming these existing sampling limitations.
43 They consist of the sampling and analysis of liquid biological sources, typically blood, for
44 cancer diagnosis, screening and prognosis. The “Tumor Circulome” , defined as the subset of
45 circulating components is derived from cancer tissue and can be directly or indirectly used as
46 a source of cancer biomarkers in liquid biopsy [4]. These include: circulating tumor [proteins](#),
47 [circulating tumor](#) nucleic acids (ctDNA, ctRNA), circulating tumor cells (CTCs), tumor-derived
48 extracellular vesicles (EV), ~~circulating tumor proteins~~ and tumor-educated platelets (TEPs)
49 (**Figure 1, Key Figure**). Liquid biopsies present several advantages over conventional tissue
50 biopsies ([see Table 1](#)), and technological advancements in sample isolation (such as [the](#)
51 [development of nucleic acids extraction chips to minimize the manipulation of samples](#) [5])
52 and detection platforms (such as [the development of high resolution flow cytometers](#) [6] or

Commented [MK(1)]: Please include all weblinks in a separate section before “References”, entitled “Resources”

Commented [MK(2)]: Please include all weblinks in a separate section before “References”, entitled “Resources”

Commented [GDR3R2]: Thanks for doing that

Commented [MK(4)]: Since this is how it is depicted in the Figure.

Commented [MK(5)]: I suggest that this be converted into “Key Figure”. The Figure represents the contents of the review well.

Commented [MK(6)]: Are the authors talking about advances in sample isolation? I’d encourage you to give examples to align the readers to what advancements the authors are referring to.

Commented [GDR7R6]: Done with some of the innovations discussed in the following chapters.

53 [single-cell Western Blot platforms](#) [7]) are evolving to support this approach. The first
54 important milestone in this field was reached in 2016 with the Food And Drug Administration
55 (FDA) approval of the first **companion diagnostic** test for lung cancer based on the ctDNA
56 content of a liquid biopsy [8].

57 In this review, we detail the clinical significance and potential of liquid biopsies and provide
58 an overview of recent reports supporting elements of the Tumor Circulome as biomarkers for
59 the diagnosis and monitoring of cancer, [with a particular focus on ctDNA, CTCs, tumor-derived](#)
60 [EVs and ctRNAs](#). We also discuss factors limiting implementation in clinical practice and
61 outline significant technological advances that may overcome these. Our focus will be on
62 blood as the biological matrix for the liquid biopsy, however other biological fluids comprise
63 a source of promising tumor-derived biomarkers too (see **Box 1**).

64

65 **Circulating Tumor-derived Proteins**

66 [The measurement of circulating protein markers has historically been the gold standard](#)
67 [approach used for the non-invasive diagnosis, screening and postoperative follow-up in](#)
68 [cancer management. Notable examples of circulating tumor-derived protein markers include](#)
69 [the –Prostate Specific Antigen \(PSA\) for prostate cancer screening \[9\] and CA 15-3 for](#)
70 [postoperative follow-up of breast cancer recurrence \[10\]. These are compromised by high](#)
71 [false positive rates, which can lead to overdiagnosis and in some cases unnecessary](#)
72 [anticancer treatment \[9\]. In the case of CA 15-3, there are questions around its application](#)
73 [in improvements in patient outcomes \[10\]. The use of panels or biosignatures comprised of](#)
74 [more than one protein is a more promising approach, as the combination of multiple](#)

75 [biomarkers increases the diagnostic/prognostic capability of the assay by reducing the](#)
76 [number of false positives and false negatives](#) [11, 12].

78 **Circulating Tumor DNA (ctDNA)**

79 Circulating Tumor DNA comprises the fraction of circulating cell-free DNA (cfDNA) originating
80 from cancer cells. This includes short nucleosome-associated fragments (80-200 bp) [13] and
81 longer fragments (> 10 kb) encapsulated within EVs [14]. The mechanisms of ctDNA release
82 into circulation include **apoptosis, necrosis**, lysis of CTCs and active secretion from the **tumor**
83 [15]. The proof of the suitability of ctDNA as cancer biomarker came with the identification of
84 *KRAS* gene mutations in ctDNA from the blood of pancreatic cancer patients [16].

85 ***Clinical significance of ctDNA analysis***

86 Both qualitative and quantitative information can be obtained from ctDNA analysis
87 [13]. Quantitative information can be obtained from the measurement of the mutant allele
88 fraction (MAF, the percentage of mutant allele in a given locus) and is a reflection of tumor
89 burden [13]. It finds application in the detection of **minimal residual disease (MRD)** and
90 **occult metastases** [17] and in the monitoring of treatment response and **therapeutic**
91 effectiveness [18]. CtDNA levels provide a “real time” snapshot of tumor bulk because of its
92 short **half-life** (around 2.5 hours) [13]. The detection of ctDNA after treatment is a high
93 sensitivity and **specificity** predictor of relapse [19].

94 Qualitative information can be sourced through the profiling of mutations,
95 [duplications](#), [amplifications](#), deletions and translocations in ctDNA (Figure 1), allowing the
96 identification of genetic alterations associated with response, hence supporting decision-

Commented [GDR8]: We just left “from the tumor” as it was what we meant

Commented [MK9]: Please explain.

Commented [GDR10R9]: We added “occult metastases” to the Glossary

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [GDR11]: EDITOR COMMENT: Can this be shown in the Figure? Or is it amplification in the Figure? Please replace amplification with duplications for continuity between main text and Figure.

We replaced duplications with amplifications, as it is a broader definition which includes duplications

97 making for personalized management [13]. For example, the first ctDNA-based companion
98 diagnostic test (cobas® EGFR Mutation Test v2 – Roche Diagnostics), recently approved by
99 the FDA [8], is used to guide the use of [Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor \(EGFR\)-Tyrosine](#)
100 **Kinase** Inhibitors on the basis of specific EGFR-sensitizing mutations in patients with non-
101 small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Other qualitative information obtainable through ctDNA
102 analysis includes assessment of methylation status. For example, a screening test for
103 colorectal cancer, Epi proColon®, has been recently approved by FDA and analyzes the
104 methylation pattern of the promoter of the *SEPT9* gene, a region known to be
105 hypermethylated in colorectal cancer when compared to ~~normal~~ [non-malignant](#) samples [20].

106 **Technological approaches and current limitations**

107 The currently available technologies for ctDNA analysis are based on polymerase chain
108 reaction (PCR) or next-generation sequencing (NGS). Allele-specific PCR was the first
109 approach used in ctDNA detection [16] and a quantitative PCR (qPCR) variation of this
110 technique is currently adopted by the cobas® EGFR test [8]. Considering that the fraction of
111 ctDNA in total cfDNA is usually very low, often less than 0.01% [21], more sensitive
112 technologies have been developed and successfully used for ctDNA analysis, such as **digital**
113 **PCR (dPCR)** [22], **droplet digital PCR (ddPCR)** [23] and [Beads, Emulsion, Amplification,](#)
114 [Magnetics \(BEAMing\)](#) [24]. Although very sensitive, quick and relatively inexpensive, PCR-
115 based assays are limited by low multiplexing capacity, allowing for analysis of a restricted
116 number of loci in parallel [13].

117 The sensitivity of NGS-based technologies is lower than that of PCR-based technologies and
118 inversely proportional to the number of loci analyzed, with [Whole Exome Sequencing \(WES\)](#)
119 [having the lowest sensitivity \(≥5% MAF\)](#) [13]. Approaches to enhance the sensitivity of NGS

Commented [MK(12)]: Full form needed.

Commented [GDR13R12]: done

Commented [MK(14)]: I made a comment earlier on how it should be explained briefly what the biomarker is based on...the example is this- we tell the readers that methylation of this gene is more in colorectal cancer.

Commented [GDR15R14]: done

Commented [MK(16)]: I'd encourage to add in these PCR techniques as Glossary terms. While most know that PCR is for DNA amplification, many do not know how allele-specific PCR, quantitative PCR, digitalPCR, droplet digital PCR, and BEAMing are better and more sensitive. Please consider briefly describing each just highlighting what makes them better than just PCR wherever possible.

Commented [GDR17R16]: Done

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [MK(18)]: Add as Glossary term. Thank you.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [GDR19R18]: done

120 include considering patient- or cancer-specific gene panels, such as in the **Cancer**
121 **Personalized Profiling by deep Sequencing (CAPP-Seq)** technology [25], or strategies to
122 suppress the background noise generated by random errors occurring during library
123 preparation. These strategies involve tagging each template molecule with Unique Molecular
124 Identifiers (UMIs). These are used by different NGS platforms, such as eTAm-Seq™ (Enhanced
125 Tagged Amplicon Sequencing) [26]. Another approach to enhance sensitivity includes the
126 selective nuclease digestion of non-mutated DNA, which results in an increase in MAF and
127 has enabled mutation detection down to 0.00003% MAF [27].

128 Despite its potential, the use of ctDNA as a liquid biopsy has many limitations. Detection
129 sensitivity is a serious concern, especially in early cancer detection where the low amount of
130 ctDNA may result in a MAF lower than the limit of detection of existing techniques [13]. The
131 sampling of other body fluids, proximal to the putative site of the tumor, can increase the
132 detection rate, at least in individuals at risk due to, for example, hereditary predisposition.
133 This is mainly because, especially at early stages, a proximal body fluid may have a higher
134 concentration of tumor-derived DNA than blood [28]. Another concern in early detection is
135 the predictive value of single or small sets of mutations, as cancer-associated mutations can
136 be found in plasma of healthy individuals as a result of **clonal hematopoiesis** [13]. One
137 approach to overcome this challenge ~~is to use~~ the CancerSEEK platform, which associates the
138 analysis of 8 tumor-derived proteins to ctDNA mutation profiling and has a specificity of >99%
139 [29].

140 Another limitation impeding the implementation of ctDNA analysis into clinical practice is the
141 lack of standardized protocols for pre-analytical sample preparation and ctDNA purification.
142 Current procedures are complex and may cause ctDNA degradation and blood cell lysis [30].

Commented [MK(20): Another potential Glossary term.

Commented [GDR21R20]: Added to Glossary

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [MK(22): Potential Glossary term.

Commented [GDR23R22]: Added to the Glossary

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

143 A platform allowing a quick, single-step purification of ctDNA from blood is desirable, and **lab-**
144 **on-a-chip** systems have potential to address this need [5].

145

146 **Circulating Tumor Cells (CTCs)**

147 CTCs are a population of tumor cells that have detached from the primary tumor and can be
148 found in the peripheral blood of patients. Their presence is thought to be fundamental to the
149 development of metastasis [31]. CTCs present systemically through active **intravasation**, with
150 **epithelial-to-mesenchymal (EMT)** transition as a fundamental step [32], or through passive
151 shedding from the primary tumor. **This latter a** mechanism **is** supported by the presence of
152 CTC aggregates or Circulating Tumor Microemboli (CTMs) in the blood [33].

153 ***Clinical significance of CTCs and analytical technologies***

154 The information that can be obtained from CTCs are quantitative as well as phenotypic
155 (qualitative) through single cell genomic/transcriptomic/proteomic profiling (Figure 1). They
156 have great potential as tools for diagnosis, monitoring, prognosis and prediction of response
157 to therapy, and also for the discovery of novel drug targets [34]. Furthermore, the *ex vivo*
158 culture of CTCs has an important translational value, because it allows to perform
159 personalized drug sensitivity tests with the aim of basing treatment decision-making on
160 evolving tumor mutational profiles and drug sensitivity patterns found in individual patients
161 [35].

162 The simplest information obtainable from CTCs is their number, which is a prognostic
163 predictor for many cancers including metastatic breast, colon and prostate cancers [36].

164 Currently the only FDA-cleared clinical application of CTCs is the CellSearch® platform used

Commented [MK(24)]: Potential Glossary term.

Commented [GDR25R24]: Added to the Glossary

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

165 for enumeration of epithelial CTCs [36]. The power of CTC counts as a criterion for the
166 selection of the first-line treatment in metastatic breast cancer is currently being investigated
167 in the METABREAST trial (Clinical Trial Number: NCT01710605).

168 With regards to the genetic and genomic information obtainable from CTCs, the technologies
169 that can be used are similar to those of ctDNA analysis, and range from qPCR and dPCR-based
170 mutational profiling to targeted NGS and whole genome sequencing [37]. Additionally, CTCs
171 can be analyzed by cytogenetic analyses such as Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH) for
172 the identification of chromosomal rearrangements [38]. NGS technologies have fundamental
173 importance for single-CTC genomic and transcriptomic characterization, in the study of tumor
174 heterogeneity and in comparative analysis with tissue biopsies [39]. Although the fields of
175 single-cell genomics and transcriptomics have experienced significant developments, single-
176 CTC protein analysis is somewhat premature in comparison, with immunocytochemistry and
177 flow cytometry being primarily used, both of which have poor multiplexing capacity. New
178 technologies are however emerging and Sinkala and colleagues recently developed a
179 microfluidic-based single-cell Western Blot assay (scWB) which was used to assess the levels
180 of 8 proteins in three metastatic cancer patient-derived single CTCs [7].

181 Despite numerous analytical platforms and technologies available for CTC analysis, their
182 translation into clinical practice is limited by their isolation from blood. Challenges include
183 their extreme rarity, fragility and physical and phenotypic heterogeneity [34]. Currently
184 available strategies for CTC enrichment and isolation exploit their biological and physical
185 properties, while functionality assays allow CTCs identification (**Box 2** and **Table 2**). Each of
186 these alternatives has advantages and drawbacks, and only their combination can support a
187 comprehensive characterization.

188

189 **Extracellular Vesicles (EVs)**

190 EVs are membranous particles released from all cell types in physiological and pathological
191 conditions, as well as following different types of stimuli [including proteases, ADP, thrombin,](#)
192 [inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, biomechanical shear and stress inducers and](#)
193 [apoptotic signals](#) [40]. They can be found in almost every body fluid, especially in blood [41].

194 Once considered a simple means to eliminate unneeded cellular components from the
195 cytoplasm of cells, during the last decade EVs have been recognized as fundamental
196 mediators of intercellular communication, regulating and participating to a plethora of
197 physiological and pathological processes including cancer [41]. Based on their biogenesis,
198 content and secretory pathways, EVs can be divided into two broad categories: exosomes and
199 microvesicles [41].

200 ***Clinical significance of EVs as cancer biomarkers***

201 The suitability of EVs as cancer biomarkers lies in the fact that the molecular cargo they carry
202 can be considered a molecular fingerprint of the cell of origin [42]. Compared to ctDNA and
203 CTCs, whose implementation in clinical cancer diagnostics is hampered by challenges in their
204 isolation, analytical sensitivity and by stability concerns, the potential advantages of EVs are
205 many. EVs are typically produced and released in abundant quantities and in greater amounts
206 compared to CTCs [43]. Likewise, the stability of the vesicular cargo is maintained through a
207 protecting outer lipid membrane [44].

208 Similarly to ctDNA and CTCs, EVs can be source of quantitative and qualitative information.
209 Quantitative information comprising EVs numbers can inform the presence of malignant

210 disease and tumor burden. For example, circulating exosome levels are increased in breast
211 and pancreatic cancer [45] and the number of circulating microparticles (MPs) is higher in
212 multiple myeloma (MM) patients compared to healthy individuals [46]. Furthermore,
213 circulating MP levels demonstrated potential for the diagnosis and prognosis of advanced
214 NSCLC [47].

215 Qualitative information through the molecular characterization of EV constituents, including
216 nucleic acids and proteins (Figure 1), are the most readily obtained (Figure 1) [42]. The RNA
217 content of EVs, including both coding and non-coding RNAs, has been widely studied [43].
218 The DNA content of exosomes has recently gained attention as a biomarkers source in a study
219 in which mutations in *KRAS* and *TP53* have been detected in serum exosomes from pancreatic
220 cancer patients [14]. In another study, the identification of exosomal *KRAS* mutations proved
221 better than CA 19-9 for prognostic stratification of patients with pancreatic ductal
222 adenocarcinoma (PDAC) [48].

223 EVs carry proteins in their lumen and in their membrane, and numerous reports have been
224 published demonstrating the important role of EV proteins as possible cancer biomarkers
225 [42]. Melo et al. demonstrated the ability of circulating exosomal Glypican-1 (GPC1) to
226 distinguish PDAC from healthy donor samples with a reported accuracy of 100% [45]. More
227 recently, Moon et al. demonstrated the suitability of EV Del-1 [49] and Fibronectin [50] as
228 biomarkers for early breast cancer diagnosis. Furthermore, our group demonstrated that the
229 levels of circulating CD138⁺ MPs increase in MM and observed a significant prognostic
230 potential for CD138⁺ MPs in predicting risk of relapse and therapeutic response in individual
231 patients [46]. Finally, the levels of AnnexinV⁺ EpCAM⁺ [Asialoglycoprotein Receptor-1](#)
232 [ASGPR1](#)⁺ circulating MPs are diagnostic of hepatocellular carcinoma and

Commented [MK(26): Please check if the full form has been incorporated earlier. If not, kindly do so here.

Commented [GDR27R26]: It was incorporated earlier (line 103)

Commented [MK(28): Here, it is not completely clear how Figure 1 relates in context to EVs...might be worth making the correlation clear.

Commented [GDR29R28]: We were referring to the fact that, in Figure 1, nucleic acids and proteins are shown as components of EVs.

Commented [MK(30): Full form?

Commented [GDR31R30]: done

233 cholangiocarcinoma [51], and the levels of CD147⁺ EpCAM⁺ MPs are predictors of colorectal
234 carcinoma [52].

235 ***Technologies for EVs isolation and analysis and recent advances***

236 One important limitation to the clinical application of EVs as liquid biopsy is the lack of
237 standardized protocols for sample handling and EV isolation and analysis, which could impact
238 reproducibility in the clinical setting [53]. Currently used EV isolation procedures often consist
239 of many biospecimen handling steps and can subject EVs to different types of physical and
240 chemical insults, which may damage EVs and/or modify their biological and physical
241 properties. Another factor influencing the reproducibility of EV studies is the lack of
242 standardized guidelines defining EVs nomenclature and definition, and the control
243 experiments needed for validation. In order to overcome these limitations, a comprehensive
244 collection of guidelines and recommendations has been very recently updated by the
245 International Society for Extracellular Vesicles [54].

246 Similarly to CTCs, conventional EVs isolation strategies exploit physical (density, size) and
247 biological (expression of surface markers) properties [55]. Density-based approaches, such as
248 differential centrifugation/ultracentrifugation and density gradient centrifugation, are the
249 most commonly used methods for EV isolation. Among these, differential ultracentrifugation
250 is considered the gold-standard technique, especially for exosome purification. Although
251 widely used, these techniques rely on expensive equipments, are time-consuming and don't
252 guarantee pure yields, often resulting in a compromise between purity and recovery [55].

253 Size-based techniques include filtration and size exclusion chromatography (SEC). Filtration
254 can result in high yields and purity, but again is limited in terms of EVs adherence to the filters

255 and vesicle damage due to high pressure [56]. SEC allows a superior recovery of EVs compared
256 to ultracentrifugation [56].

257 Immunoaffinity capture methods use magnetic beads conjugated to antibodies recognizing
258 EV surface markers. An advantage of these methods is that they produce EV fractions with
259 high purity, allowing the isolation of specific subsets of EVs based on the surface marker used.
260 This feature, on the other hand, could be a limitation because it may overlook potentially
261 important EV subpopulations lacking the expression of the selected marker [55]. A novel
262 development of immunoaffinity capture is its integration into microchips allowing *in-situ*
263 immunoassay analysis [57].

264 Another commonly used isolation method, especially for exosomes, is polymer precipitation.
265 This method involves the use of polymers (such as polyethylene glycol (PEG)) to reduce the
266 solubility of EVs, in order to precipitate them with a rapid low-speed centrifugation. Although
267 producing high recovery rates, this methodology has low purity [58].

268 Recently emerging methodologies for EV isolation use electric fields. Lewis et al. developed
269 an Alternating Current Electrokinetic (ACE) Chip capable of performing exosome capture from
270 whole blood and *in-situ* immunofluorescent analysis in 30 minutes. They validated this chip
271 by assessing the suitability of GPC-1 and CD63 levels as diagnostic markers of PDAC [59].

272 Finally, another promising category of potential novel approaches to EV isolation relies on
273 microfluidics [58]. The available microfluidic approaches are based on different EV properties,
274 eg: nanoscale size-based filtration [60], antibody-functionalized microfluidic channels [61]
275 and spiral inertial microfluidic devices [62]. In a recent report, Ko et al. developed a magnetic
276 nanopore sorting platform that has been used to isolate specific cancer-derived EVs. They
277 used this system to identify, in a mouse model of PDAC, a miRNA signature to train a machine

278 learning algorithm for the classification of distinct cancer states [63]. Microfluidics
279 technologies are set to boost the development of lab-on-a-chip systems for fast, cost-
280 effective, integrated isolation and analysis of EVs, towards the development of EV-based
281 point-of-care diagnostics.

282 Together with the isolation methods, EV detection methods are also experiencing advances
283 in development, especially with regards to the analysis of protein cargo. Common analytical
284 technologies include Western blot (WB), Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), mass
285 spectrometry (MS) and flow cytometry (FCM) [64]. With the exception of FCM, these
286 techniques focus primarily on bulk EV analysis, without assessing their individual variability
287 [58]. FCM is currently used for single-MPs characterization [46, 51, 52], but fails to analyze
288 single exosomes due to their small size. Exosome FCM analysis currently involves the binding
289 of multiple exosomes to larger beads [45]. Recently, Kibria et al. developed a microFCM
290 platform which was capable of assessing the expression of CD47 in single circulating
291 exosomes from breast cancer patients [6]. Another technique capable of allowing single-EV
292 protein phenotyping, at a higher size resolution than current flow cytometers, is a variation
293 of Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA) in which fluorescent antibodies are used to identify
294 EVs expressing a given marker [65]. Despite better size resolution of NTA, a great advantage
295 of FCM is its higher multiplexing capacity.

296

297 **Circulating Tumor RNA (ctRNA)**

298 The fraction of circulating cell-free RNA originating from cancer cells is referred to as
299 circulating tumor RNA (ctRNA). The existence of extracellular RNA was first documented in
300 1978 [66] and the first report about its potential as cancer biomarkers was shown years later

301 [67]. Compared to DNA, RNA is a relatively unstable molecule, whose naked half-life in plasma
302 is approximately 15 seconds [68]. Its stability is enhanced by its association with proteins [69],
303 proteolipid complexes [67] and extracellular vesicles [44].

304 ***Clinical significance of ctRNA as cancer biomarker and current limitations***

305 Nearly all known classes of RNA have been found in systemic circulation and, to a certain
306 extent, each one of them has potential to serve as cancer biomarkers [70]. Similar to other
307 components of the tumor circulome, ctRNA is source of quantitative and qualitative
308 information. In fact, although expression profiles of coding and non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs)
309 represent the most important source of information, the identification of tumor-specific
310 fusion transcripts or alternative splice events is also possible [71]. The most important classes
311 of ctRNA potentially suitable as biomarkers are mRNAs, miRNAs and long non-coding RNAs
312 (lncRNAs) (Figure 1). Their analysis is performed with techniques ranging from qRT-PCR or
313 dPCR-based assessment of single or small panels of RNAs to the comprehensive
314 characterization of RNAs (especially miRNAs) signatures via RNA-Seq [70].

315 **Circulating exosomal mRNA** has been used to investigate the mutational status of *KRAS* and
316 *BRAF* in patients with colorectal cancer (CRC) [72], and exosomal EGFRvIII mRNA has potential
317 for the diagnosis of EGFRvIII-positive high-grade gliomas [73]. In another report, the detection
318 of androgen receptor splice variant 7 (AR-V7) in plasmatic exosomes by ddPCR has been
319 shown to be a good predictor of resistance to hormonal therapy in prostate cancer [74].

320 [Numerous lung cancer-related gene fusions are also readily identified in both vesicular and](#)
321 [non-vesicular mRNA and have value as biomarkers](#) [75]. Among the non-vesicular fraction of
322 ctRNAs, circulating [human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase \(hTERT, catalytic subunit of the](#)

Commented [MK32]: This paragraph talks about mRNA....Can it be correlated better to Figure 1 by either talking about alternate splicing and fusion or modifying the Figure?

Commented [GDR33R32]: An example of alternate mRNA splicing is given 4 rows below, where we speak about AR-V7 splice variant in prostate cancer. We added a short sentence on gene fusion and referenced a review on gene fusions in liquid biopsies of lung cancer [75]

323 [Telomerase Complex](#)) mRNA has demonstrated a greater diagnostic and prognostic accuracy
324 than PSA for prostate cancer [76].

325 With regards to miRNAs, plasma exosomal miR-196a and miR-1246 levels have potential for
326 the early diagnosis of pancreatic cancers [77], and panels of miRNAs have been shown to be
327 reliable biomarkers for diagnosis [78] or prognosis [79] of lung cancer. More recently, a serum
328 exosomal miRNA signature has proven to be an innovative tool for the differential diagnosis
329 of gliomas [80].

330 A novel promising source of RNA biomarkers are long-noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs). For
331 example, plasma exosome LINC00152 levels have been linked to gastric cancer [81], and the
332 combination between two mRNAs and one lncRNA in serum exosomes has diagnostic
333 potential for colorectal cancer [82]. Furthermore, serum exosomal HOTAIR lncRNA has
334 applicability in diagnosis and prognosis of glioblastoma multiforme [83]. More recently, a
335 panel of five circulating lncRNAs has been studied as a promising diagnostic biomarker for
336 gastric cancer [84].

337 To date, the most important limitations for the implementation of ctRNAs in the clinical
338 setting involve the pre-analytical and analytical steps. Although circulating RNAs are
339 protected by the association with different molecules and structures, they are unstable in
340 plasma if stored at 4°C, and limited by the speed of extraction [85]. Furthermore, different
341 extraction protocols have different recovery rates, and there is currently no consensus on an
342 optimal extraction protocol [85]. Again, lab-on-a-chip devices seem to offer a potential
343 solution to this issue, allowing rapid and integrated purification and analysis of samples while
344 minimizing their handling. A proof-of-concept of this is the microdevice developed by Potrich
345 et al., which is capable of selectively extracting miRNAs from cell culture supernatant and

346 allows *in situ* reverse transcription and qPCR analysis [86]. Another example is the Integrated
347 Comprehensive Droplet Digital Detection (IC 3D) system, a microfluidic platform capable of
348 quantifying extremely low concentrations of miRNAs directly from plasma in 3 hours [87].

349

350 **Tumor-Educated Platelets (TEPs)**

351 TEPs are perhaps the latest components of the tumor circulome to be considered for
352 biomarker analysis. The concept of “platelet education” by cancer refers to the presence of
353 specific RNA signatures in platelets of cancer patients. This was first reported in 2010 and
354 2011 with the observations that: in metastatic lung cancer patients, 197 platelet genes were
355 downregulated and several genes were differentially spliced compared to non-cancer
356 controls [88]; in glioma, cancer-derived microvesicles are actively taken up by platelets and
357 transfer their RNA content, harboring a cancer-characteristic RNA signature revealed by
358 microarray [89]. Best et al. in 2015 characterized TEPs extracted from a patient cohort across
359 6 cancer types via RNA-Seq, distinguishing patients with localized or metastatic tumor from
360 healthy individuals with 96% accuracy and locating the anatomical position of the tumor with
361 71% accuracy. This paved the way for “pan-cancer and multiclass cancer diagnostics” [90]. In
362 more recent work, the same group applied Particle-Swarm Optimization (PSO)-enhanced
363 algorithms ~~swarm intelligence-enhanced algorithms~~ to platelet RNA-Seq libraries to generate
364 a panel of biomarkers capable of distinguishing lung cancer patients from healthy individuals
365 and from those with lung inflammatory conditions [91].

366

Commented [GDR34]: EDITOR COMMENT: Please simplify or modify for non-expert readers. Thank you.

We described PSO in the Glossary

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

367 TEPs is minimally described and tumor proteins are not (reference Fig1). Is there a way to put
368 these too classes in better context with the Figure? So that readers can follow Fig.1 and text
369 better? In this current draft...I feel that it seems that the authors abruptly ended TEPs and
370 forgot about tumor proteins. Some explanation is required.

371 **Controversies on the use of Liquid Biopsies in cancer management**

372 Despite reports demonstrating potential of liquid biopsies in addressing the current
373 needs in cancer management, numerous controversies remain on their utility. This is
374 particularly true for ctDNA and CTCs, which have already found application in clinical
375 management. In a recent report Torga et al. [92] compared the performance of two
376 commercially available NGS-based ctDNA tests for metastatic prostate cancer, finding an
377 astonishingly low concordance (7.5% patients studied) between the two tests. The
378 discordance was attributed to issues in study design and sample analysis, raising current
379 limitations of preanalytical and analytical standardization in the field. Furthermore, with very
380 few exceptions, most of the ctDNA assays available have limited evidence of clinical validity
381 and utility in advanced cancer. Likewise, their utility in early-stage cancers, treatment
382 monitoring or MRD detection remains to be established [93]. Additionally, with regards to
383 CTCs, although their clinical validity has been demonstrated, particularly for their prognostic
384 capacity in metastatic disease, evidence of their clinical utility is still missing, preventing their
385 implementation into standard clinical practice [94]. Numerous large-scale clinical trials are
386 clearly needed, and some are currently in progress to address this unmet need.

387

388 **Concluding Remarks and Future Directions**

Commented [GDR35]: The description of TEPs is shorter than the other chapters because, being TEPs a relatively new component of the Tumor Circulome, very little is known besides what is described in the text. We believe that the Figure well represents what said in this part of the text, as alternatively spliced transcripts and RNA signatures are depicted in the Figure and described in the text.

With regards to tumor-derived proteins, our idea was to not include them because, although technically part of the "Tumor Circulome", they don't represent a novel approach for cancer management if compared to ctDNA, CTCs, EVs and ctRNAs (which are actually the "hot topics" in liquid biopsy). However, we do agree with the editor that it doesn't make any sense to show the proteins in Figure 1 if they are not described in the text. To this aim, we added a very short paragraph on circulating tumor-derived proteins just before the ctDNA chapter, in which both the use of single and multiple proteins are briefly discussed. We decided to discuss them at the beginning of the paper in order to maintain their position in the Figure (the smallest spaces in the figure, which are the ones at the top right and top left, are perfect to put components of the circulome which don't "contain" many elements, such as proteins and TEPs)

Formatted: Highlight

389 Current standards for patient stratification and treatment selection include the analysis of
390 tumor genetic alterations from tissue biopsies. Despite their undoubted value, tissue biopsies
391 have important limitations, being highly invasive procedures that fail to capture tumor clonal
392 heterogeneity. Liquid biopsies, consisting in the analysis of circulating tumor-derived factors
393 (the Tumor Circulome), are gaining exceptional attention as a valuable alternative. The tumor
394 circulome is source of different classes of tumor-derived biological components. Novel
395 technologies are being developed to further improve the analysis of the tumor circulome,
396 with the aim of fully exploring the complexity of the information obtainable from a simple
397 blood draw.

398 The studies reviewed here underline the tremendous potential of liquid biopsies, and the
399 development of novel technologies allows researchers to characterize each single component
400 of the tumor circulome with increasing precision. Liquid Biopsies are being positioned as a
401 game-changing tool in personalized cancer management. However, their clinical application
402 has been comparatively slow, hampered by multiple technical challenges (listed in **Table 3**).
403 As a consequence, several problems still need to be resolved to firmly establish the role of
404 liquid biopsies in the clinical setting (see **Outstanding Questions**). The lack of standardization
405 of pre-analytical and analytical variables is a significant limitation in the field. A liquid biopsy
406 ideally should be cost effective, fast, reproducible and ensure sample integrity. One approach
407 via which this can be achieved is through automated chip-based devices allowing for the
408 analysis of biomarkers from whole blood without the need for lengthy and costly purification
409 steps. While complex chip systems such as the ACE chip remain costly, alternative polymeric
410 microfluidic devices [such as the spiral microfluidic chip used for CTC isolation](#) are, [in](#)
411 [comparison, cost effective](#) [95]. Although much work is still needed to comprehensively define

412 the future role of liquid biopsies in cancer diagnosis, monitoring and prognosis, the promising
413 results reported so far testify to the potential of this approach in changing the current
414 paradigms of cancer management.

415

416 TEXT BOXES

417 **Box 1 – Liquid biopsy of ~~other non-blood biological specimens~~ ~~body fluids~~ biological**
418 **~~specimens~~ different from other than blood**

419 Although the “standard” concept of liquid biopsy consists in the sampling of blood, virtually
420 all body fluids are suitable as liquid biopsy. The anatomic localization of primary or metastatic
421 tumors influences the presence of tumor-derived material in the corresponding body fluids.
422 Common body fluids include urine, saliva, sputum, stool, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and pleural
423 effusions. Many of these have demonstrated great potential as [a source of](#) cancer biomarkers
424 [96, 97].

425 Urine: Urine is a valuable source of ctDNA for urogenital cancers such as prostate, bladder
426 and cervical cancers and non-urogenital malignancies such as NSCLC, [Colorectal Cancer \(CRC\)](#)
427 [and gastric cancer](#) [98], and its EV content is source of several candidate biomarkers [99]. The
428 first liquid biopsy test on urine, ProgenSA® PCA3 Assay was [FDA](#) approved in 2012ⁱⁱⁱ to aid the
429 decision-making of a repeat prostate biopsy in case of a first negative biopsy. This test
430 measures the level of [Prostate Cancer Antigen 3 \(PCA3\) lncRNA, which is increased in more](#)
431 [over than 95% of primary prostate tumors](#) [100]. Another promising urine-based test is the
432 ExoDx® Prostate(IntelliScore)^{iv}, a [Laboratory-Developed Test \(LDT\)](#) based on the analysis of
433 the levels of three [exosome-associated RNAs overexpressed in high-grade prostate cancer](#)
434 [which is used to “rule-out” potentially unnecessary prostate biopsies.](#)

435 Saliva: Salivary biomarkers include ctDNA for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [101],
436 and microRNAs (miRNAs) for detecting early malignancy in potentially malignant oral cancers

Commented [MK(36)]: Please provide full forms here. Thank you.

Commented [GDR37R36]: Done. NSCLC is defined in full form in the main text

Commented [MB38]: Expression relates to proteins not nucleic acids. Find another term

Commented [GDR39R38]: Done

Commented [MK(40)]: Please insert full form. Also, please explain here briefly how PCA3 lncRNA levels are helpful in prostate cancer diagnosis....goes up?goes down? Presence shows something?

Commented [GDR41R40]: done

Commented [MK(42)]: Please clarify the meaning?

Commented [GDR43R42]: Described in the Glossary with the FDA definition

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [MK(44)]: Please clarify if presence/absence tells results....this sentence comes off as little vague.

Commented [GDR45R44]: done

437 [102]. Furthermore, EV-associated miRNAs have the potential to be used as biomarkers of
438 oral squamous cell carcinoma [103].

439 CSF: CSF, thanks to its direct contact with the central nervous system (CNS), is set to become
440 an important source of biomarkers for CNS-restricted cancers, potentially overcoming the
441 relative scarcity of circulating biomarkers (especially ctDNA) in these diseases caused by the
442 blood-brain-barrier [104]. CSF-derived ctDNA has proven to represent genetic alterations of
443 brain tumors better than plasma ctDNA [105], and a miRNA CSF signature for glioblastoma
444 has been recently reported [106].

445 Other bodily fluids: The analysis of stool-derived DNA has been recently validated as a
446 powerful diagnostic tool for colorectal cancer [107], while sputum DNA and protein content
447 has promising potential in the context of lung cancer [108]. Pleural effusions, finally, are
448 source of DNA biomarkers for lung cancer [109] and malignant pleural mesothelioma [110],
449 and the presence of [Epithelial Cell Adhesion Molecule \(EpCAM\)⁺](#) microparticles allows
450 distinction between malignant and non-malignant pleural effusions [111].

451 The studies reported here are examples of the enormous potential of non-blood liquid
452 biopsies as biomarkers. The association between information obtained from blood and
453 non-blood samplings will surely represent a precious added value in the field of liquid biopsy.

454

455 **Box 2 - Strategies for CTC isolation, enrichment and identification**

456 Based on biological properties: Approaches based on biological properties of CTCs exploit the
457 expression of cell surface markers for their isolation and selection [34]. The most used marker
458 for positive selection is EpCAM, [which is a calcium-dependent transmembrane glycoprotein](#)

Commented [MK(46)]: Please clarify/simplify for the benefit of a non-expert reader. What does EpCam do?...I see that this is described in Box 2. Maybe it is worth mentioning at the first use of EpCAM that it is described in Box 2?

Commented [GDR47R46]: We described its function in Box 2

459 [that mediates cell adhesion in epithelia and is detected](#) by the CellSearch® platform [36].
460 CellSearch® integrates immunomagnetic enrichment of EpCAM⁺ cells and staining with anti-
461 cytokeratine (CK), anti-CD45 and DAPI [36]. A limitation of EpCAM-dependent approaches is
462 that many CTCs don't express EpCAM -as they undergo Epithelial-to-Mesenchimal Transition
463 (EMT), thus underestimating CTC counts [112]. To overcome this, other markers must be
464 considered. For example, Gao and colleagues enriched lung cancer CTCs using anti-EpCAM,
465 anti-Mucin 1 (MUC1) and anti-EGFR antibodies [113]. Alternative approaches, preferable
466 because they include EpCAM^{low} and EpCAM⁻ populations, leaving CTCs unstained, involve the
467 immunomagnetic depletion of CD45⁺ leukocytes [114]. Other EpCAM-based strategies
468 include microfluidic platforms such as the CTC-Chip [115] and the NanoVelcro system [116],
469 and devices for the *in vivo* capture of CTCs directly into patients' veins, such as the GmbH
470 CellCollector device [117].

471 Based on physical properties: Other enrichment technologies exploit CTCs' physical
472 properties. CTC isolation by size is possible as CTCs are generally larger than leukocytes [118].

473 Size-based approaches include filtration methods, such as the [Isolation by Size of Tumor cells](#)
474 [\(ISET®\)](#) [118] and Metacell® [119] devices. Limitations of filtration include difficulty of
475 detaching cells from the filter and loss of cell viability [37]. To overcome these, label-free
476 microfluidics devices were developed, such as Parsortix™ [120]. More recently, CellSearch®
477 and Parsortix™ were sequentially combined to separately isolate EpCAM⁺ and EpCAM^{low/-}
478 CTCs from blood of metastatic breast cancer patients, simultaneously analyzing the matched
479 CTC populations [121]. Another example of size- based CTC enrichment is the high-throughput
480 spiral inertial microfluidic biochip, which has been clinically validated in breast and lung
481 cancer [122].

Commented [MK(48)]: Please insert full form if appropriate.

Commented [GDR49R48]: done

Commented [MK(50)]: Is there a full form?

Commented [GDR51R50]: done

482 Technologies exploiting density include differential centrifugation [123] and platforms
483 such as MagDense [124]. Other technologies involve exploiting the differences between
484 dielectric properties of CTCs and white blood cells (WBCs) and form the basis of
485 Dielectrophoresis (DEP)-based platforms [125]. DEP ~~can be~~ associated with Lateral
486 Field Flow Fractionation (LFFF) to improve the isolation of spiked breast cancer cells from
487 regular blood cells [126]. A similar technology is the DEPArray, a microfluidics platform that
488 combines DEP and imaging and has been used to accurately sort single breast cancer cells
489 following CellSearch® enrichment [127].

490 CTC functional assays support CTCs identification based on functional characteristics,
491 overcoming limitations attributed to their heterogeneity. The Vita-Assay™ exploits the ability
492 of CTCs to digest a Cell Adhesion Matrix (CAM), measuring the uptake of CAM proteins on a
493 coated culture dish via fluorescence. [128]. The EPISPOT Assay detects viable CTCs through
494 detection of specific proteins released following culture on substrates functionalized with
495 specific antibodies [129]. The TelomeScan® platform exploits the activation of telomerase in
496 most cancers, allowing identification of CTCs by using adenoviruses that selectively replicate
497 in cells expressing functional hTERT, expressing GFP [130].

498

Commented [MK52]: Please clarify. DEP can be used with Lateral Field Flow Fractionation to do what better? Likewise, the next sentence seems very incomplete... DEPArray helps how?

Commented [GDR53R52]: done

499 **Table 1 – Advantages of Liquid Biopsies over conventional Tissue Biopsies**

	Tissue Biopsy	Liquid Biopsy
Invasiveness	High	Minimal
Pain	Yes	No
Risk of complications	Yes	No
Time needed	Time-consuming	Quick
Tumor heterogeneity representation	Low/null	High/total
Tumor region selection bias	Yes	No
Compatibility with longitudinal monitoring	No	Yes

500

501 **Table 2 – Examples of CTCs isolation, enrichment and identification strategies**

Category	Principle	Technique / Platform	Ref.
Biological Properties	Surface marker expression	EpCAM ⁺ Enrichment / CellSearch [®]	[36]
		EpCAM ⁺ + other surface markers	[113]
		CD45 ⁺ Depletion	[114]
		GmbH Cell Collector (<i>in vivo</i> capture)	[117]
	Surface marker expression - Microfluidics	CTC-Chip	[115]
		NanoVelcro	[116]
Physical Properties	Size - Filtration	ISET [®]	[118]
		Metacell [®]	[119]
	Size - Microfluidics	Parsortix [™]	[120]
		Spiral inertial microfluidic chip	[122]
	Density	Differential Centrifugation	[123]
		MagDense	[124]
	Dielectric Properties	DEP	[125]
		DEP-LFFF	[126]
		DEPArray	[127]
Functional Assays	CAM digestion	Vita-Assay [™]	[128]

	Protein Release during Culture	EPISPOT Assay	[129]
	Telomerase Expression	TelomeScan®	[130]

502

503 **Table 3 – Limitations of Liquid Biopsies**

Liquid Biopsy Component	Limitations	Solutions	Ref.
Circulating Tumor DNA (ctDNA)	Low Sensitivity of mutation detection (when MAF is low)	Unique Molecular Identifiers Nuclease digestion of non-mutated DNA Sampling of alternative body fluids	[26] [27] [28]
	Low predictive value of single / small sets of mutations	Analyze large mutations sets and / or associate mutations with other classes of biomarkers (e.g. proteins)	[29]
	Lack of standardized pre-analytical handling protocols, sample degradation, poor reproducibility	Layout of standardization guidelines Automated purification / analysis chips minimizing sample handling	[30] [5]
Circulating Tumor Cells (CTCs)	Poor efficiency of isolation from blood because of marker rarity, fragility, physical and phenotypic heterogeneity	Combined use of different methodologies for enrichment / isolation (e.g. CellSearch + Parsortix)	[121]
Extracellular Vesicles (EV)	High variability between isolation techniques – lack of standardized protocols	Comprehensive standardization guidelines (e.g. MISEV 2018) Automated purification / analysis chips (e.g. ACE Chips)	[54] [59]
	Lack of single-EV protein expression analysis techniques (especially for exosomes)	Development of high-resolution flow cytometers Fluorescence-based Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis	[6] [65]

Circulating Tumor RNAs (ctRNAs)	Pre-analytical handling variability, RNA instability	Layout of sample handling standardization guidelines Automated purification / analysis chips minimizing sample handling	[85] [87]
--	--	--	------------------

504 Abbreviations used: - [ACE: Alternating Current Electrokinetic](#); MAF: Mutant Allele Fraction;
 505 MISEV: Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles, [ACE](#);
 506

507 **GLOSSARY:**

508 **Allele:** variant form of a given gene

509 **BEAMing; Beads, Emulsion, Amplification, Magnetics,** highly sensitive dPCR method which
510 combines emulsion PCR and flow cytometry to identify and quantify DNA mutations

511 **CA 19-9:** Cancer Antigen 19-9. It is a portion of the Sialyl-Lewis A antigen. Its presence is
512 highly correlated with advanced epithelial cancers.

513 **Clonal hematopoiesis,** the condition in which a substantial proportion of mature blood cells
514 is derived from a single dominant hematopoietic stem cell lineage. Clonal hematopoiesis has
515 been linked to a greater than 10-fold increased risk of developing a ~~hemtological~~
516 ~~cancer~~ hematological cancer

517 **CAPP-Seq; Cancer Personalized Profiling by deep Sequencing,** a sensitive method of analysis
518 consisting of the sequencing of cancer-specific (personalized) panels of genes to identify
519 cancer-specific mutations

520 **Companion diagnostic:** medical device, often an *in vitro* test, providing information that is
521 essential and required for the safe and effective use of a corresponding drug. It is often
522 developed simultaneously with the corresponding drug. ~~The cobas® EGFR Mutation Test v2~~
523 ~~described in the text, for example, consists of a PCR-based analysis of a set of mutations,~~
524 ~~insertions and deletions on the EGFR gene and is used to inform on the use of erlotinib and~~
525 ~~osimertinib in NSCLC~~

526 **DAPI:** 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole. ~~It is a~~ fluorescent dye that binds to AT-rich regions on
527 DNA and is used to stain nuclei.

Commented [MK54]: Please remove the common terms that I highlight below as "not needed" and also un-bold them in the main text. Thank you.

Commented [GDR55R54]: done

Commented [MK56]: Please give example of a common companion diagnostic....

Commented [GDR57R56]: done

528 ~~qPCR: Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction, a variation of PCR that uses fluorescent dyes to detect the presence of DNA, without the need of a calibration curve with samples of known quantities. In dPCR, the~~
529 DNA, without the need of a calibration curve with samples of known quantities. In dPCR, the
530 initial sample mix (which is prepared like a common qPCR) is split into several individual wells
531 before the amplification step. Following PCR amplification, the absolute quantification of the
532 target is calculated using Poisson statistics, based on the number of positive and negative
533 wells for the target sequence.

534 ddPCR; Droplet Digital PCR, a variation of dPCR in which the sample is partitioned in a large
535 number of tiny water-oil emulsion droplets, containing on average one fragment of starting
536 material each, before the analysis. The partition of the sample in small droplets in emulsion
537 has the advantage, compared to dPCR, to increase the number of partitions analyzed and,
538 therefore, the resolution of the analysis

539 **EMT**, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition: a process in which epithelial cells lose their
540 polarization and adhesion properties, gaining migratory properties and thus differentiating in
541 mesenchymal cells.

542 **Genetic Heterogeneity**: the presence of different genetic clones, within the same tumor

543 **GFP**: Green Fluorescent Protein

544 **Intravasation**: the process by which cancer cells invade blood or lymphatic vessels through
545 the basal membrane

546 **hTERT**: human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase: the catalytic subunit of the Telomerase
547 Complex

548 **LDT**: **Laboratory-Developed Test**, a type of in vitro diagnostic test that is designed,
549 manufactured and used within a single laboratory

550 ~~Loci: (plural of locus) particular positions of genes on a chromosome~~
551 serum concentration of a protein) in the same patient over a period of time.

552 ~~Methylation: transfer of a methyl (-CH₃) group on a molecule~~

553 ~~Necrosis: traumatic cell death resulting from acute cellular injury~~

554 ~~Next-Generation Sequencing: high-throughput DNA sequencing technologies~~

555 ~~PSO; Particle-Swarm Optimization, is a population based stochastic optimization technique~~
556 ~~that shares many similarities with Genetic Algorithms.~~

557
558 ~~PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction: technique used to amplify (increase the number of copies~~
559 ~~of) a specific DNA sequence~~

560 ~~Sensitivity: proportion of positive individual/samples correctly identified as positive in a~~
561 ~~binary classification test (positive/negative; healthy/diseased) the sensitivity measures the~~
562 ~~proportion of actual positives that are correctly identified as positive by the test. It is also~~
563 ~~called true positive rate (TPR)~~

564 ~~Specificity: in a binary classification test, the specificity measures the proportion of actual~~
565 ~~negatives that are correctly identified as negative by the test. It is also called true negative~~
566 ~~rate (TNR)proportion of negative individual/samples correctly identified as negative~~

567 ~~WES; Whole Exome Sequencing, a genomic technique used for sequencing all the protein-~~
568 ~~coding genes in a genome (exome)~~

569

570 **RESOURCES**

- 571 i) <http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer>
- 572 ii) <https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/statistics>
- 573 iii) <https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfpma/pma.cfm?id=P1000>
- 574 [33](#)
- 575 iv) [http://www.exosomedx.com/news-events/press-releases/exosome-diagnostics-](http://www.exosomedx.com/news-events/press-releases/exosome-diagnostics-announces-launch-exodxr-prostateintelliscore-completely)
- 576 [announces-launch-exodxr-prostateintelliscore-completely](http://www.exosomedx.com/news-events/press-releases/exosome-diagnostics-announces-launch-exodxr-prostateintelliscore-completely)

577 **REFERENCES:**

- 578 1. Ashley, E.A. (2016) Towards precision medicine. *Nat Rev Genet* 17 (9), 507-22.
- 579 2. Overman, M.J. et al. (2013) Use of research biopsies in clinical trials: are risks and benefits
- 580 adequately discussed? *J Clin Oncol* 31 (1), 17-22.
- 581 3. Yates, L.R. et al. (2015) Subclonal diversification of primary breast cancer revealed by multiregion
- 582 sequencing. *Nat Med* 21 (7), 751-9.
- 583 4. De Rubis, G. et al. (2018) Circulating tumor DNA - Current state of play and future perspectives.
- 584 *Pharmacol Res* 136, 35-44.
- 585 5. Kim, C.J. et al. (2018) Fully automated, on-site isolation of cfDNA from whole blood for cancer
- 586 therapy monitoring. *Lab Chip* 18 (9), 1320-1329.
- 587 6. Kibria, G. et al. (2016) A rapid, automated surface protein profiling of single circulating exosomes
- 588 in human blood. *Sci Rep* 6, 36502.
- 589 7. Sinkala, E. et al. (2017) Profiling protein expression in circulating tumour cells using microfluidic
- 590 western blotting. *Nat Commun* 8, 14622.
- 591 8. Kwapisz, D. (2017) The first liquid biopsy test approved. Is it a new era of mutation testing for non-
- 592 small cell lung cancer? *Ann Transl Med* 5 (3), 46.
- 593 9. Pinsky, P.F. et al. (2017) Prostate Cancer Screening - A Perspective on the Current State of the
- 594 Evidence. *N Engl J Med* 376 (13), 1285-1289.
- 595 10. Duffy, M.J. et al. (2018) Blood-based biomarkers in breast cancer: From proteins to circulating
- 596 tumor cells to circulating tumor DNA. *Tumour Biol* 40 (5), 1010428318776169.
- 597 11. Bhardwaj, M. et al. (2017) Blood-Based Protein Signatures for Early Detection of Colorectal
- 598 Cancer: A Systematic Review. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 8 (11), e128.
- 599 12. Surinova, S. et al. (2015) Non-invasive prognostic protein biomarker signatures associated with
- 600 colorectal cancer. *EMBO Mol Med* 7 (9), 1153-65.
- 601 13. Wan, J.C.M. et al. (2017) Liquid biopsies come of age: towards implementation of circulating
- 602 tumour DNA. *Nat Rev Cancer* 17 (4), 223-238.
- 603 14. Kahlert, C. et al. (2014) Identification of double-stranded genomic DNA spanning all
- 604 chromosomes with mutated KRAS and p53 DNA in the serum exosomes of patients with pancreatic
- 605 cancer. *J Biol Chem* 289 (7), 3869-75.
- 606 15. Stroun, M. et al. (2000) The origin and mechanism of circulating DNA. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 906, 161-
- 607 8.

608 16. Sorenson, G.D. et al. (1994) Soluble normal and mutated DNA sequences from single-copy genes
609 in human blood. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 3 (1), 67-71.
610 17. Olsson, E. et al. (2015) Serial monitoring of circulating tumor DNA in patients with primary breast
611 cancer for detection of occult metastatic disease. *EMBO Mol Med* 7 (8), 1034-47.
612 18. Parkinson, C.A. et al. (2016) Exploratory Analysis of TP53 Mutations in Circulating Tumour DNA as
613 Biomarkers of Treatment Response for Patients with Relapsed High-Grade Serous Ovarian
614 Carcinoma: A Retrospective Study. *PLoS Med* 13 (12), e1002198.
615 19. Tie, J. et al. (2016) Circulating tumor DNA analysis detects minimal residual disease and predicts
616 recurrence in patients with stage II colon cancer. *Sci Transl Med* 8 (346), 346ra92.
617 20. Lamb, Y.N. and Dhillon, S. (2017) Epi proColon((R)) 2.0 CE: A Blood-Based Screening Test for
618 Colorectal Cancer. *Mol Diagn Ther* 21 (2), 225-232.
619 21. Diehl, F. et al. (2008) Circulating mutant DNA to assess tumor dynamics. *Nat Med* 14 (9), 985-90.
620 22. Herbreteau, G. et al. (2018) Quantitative monitoring of circulating tumor DNA predicts response
621 of cutaneous metastatic melanoma to anti-PD1 immunotherapy. *Oncotarget* 9 (38), 25265-25276.
622 23. Takayama, Y. et al. (2018) Monitoring circulating tumor DNA revealed dynamic changes in KRAS
623 status in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* 9 (36), 24398-24413.
624 24. Garcia-Foncillas, J. et al. (2017) Incorporating BEAMing technology as a liquid biopsy into clinical
625 practice for the management of colorectal cancer patients: an expert taskforce review. *Ann Oncol* 28
626 (12), 2943-2949.
627 25. Newman, A.M. et al. (2014) An ultrasensitive method for quantitating circulating tumor DNA
628 with broad patient coverage. *Nat Med* 20 (5), 548-54.
629 26. Gale, D. et al. (2018) Development of a highly sensitive liquid biopsy platform to detect clinically-
630 relevant cancer mutations at low allele fractions in cell-free DNA. *PLoS One* 13 (3), e0194630.
631 27. Song, C. et al. (2016) Elimination of unaltered DNA in mixed clinical samples via nuclease-assisted
632 minor-allele enrichment. *Nucleic Acids Res* 44 (19), e146.
633 28. Heitzer, E. et al. (2017) The potential of liquid biopsies for the early detection of cancer. *NPJ*
634 *Precis Oncol* 1 (1), 36.
635 29. Cohen, J.D. et al. (2018) Detection and localization of surgically resectable cancers with a multi-
636 analyte blood test. *Science* 359 (6378), 926-930.
637 30. Nikolaev, S. et al. (2018) Circulating tumoral DNA: Preanalytical validation and quality control in a
638 diagnostic laboratory. *Anal Biochem* 542, 34-39.
639 31. Pantel, K. and Speicher, M.R. (2016) The biology of circulating tumor cells. *Oncogene* 35 (10),
640 1216-24.
641 32. Yu, M. et al. (2013) Circulating breast tumor cells exhibit dynamic changes in epithelial and
642 mesenchymal composition. *Science* 339 (6119), 580-4.
643 33. Cho, E.H. et al. (2012) Characterization of circulating tumor cell aggregates identified in patients
644 with epithelial tumors. *Phys Biol* 9 (1), 016001.
645 34. Sharma, S. et al. (2018) Circulating tumor cell isolation, culture, and downstream molecular
646 analysis. *Biotechnol Adv* 36 (4), 1063-1078.
647 35. Yu, M. et al. (2014) Cancer therapy. Ex vivo culture of circulating breast tumor cells for
648 individualized testing of drug susceptibility. *Science* 345 (6193), 216-20.
649 36. Riethdorf, S. et al. (2018) Clinical applications of the CellSearch platform in cancer patients. *Adv*
650 *Drug Deliv Rev* 125, 102-121.
651 37. Neumann, M.H.D. et al. (2018) ctDNA and CTCs in Liquid Biopsy – Current Status and Where We
652 Need to Progress. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal* 16, 190-195.
653 38. Catelain, C. et al. (2017) Detection of Gene Rearrangements in Circulating Tumor Cells: Examples
654 of ALK-, ROS1-, RET-Rearrangements in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and ERG-Rearrangements in
655 Prostate Cancer. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 994, 169-179.
656 39. Zhu, Z. et al. (2017) Progress and challenges of sequencing and analyzing circulating tumor cells.
657 *Cell Biol Toxicol*.

658 40. Taylor, J. and Bebawy, M. (2018) Proteins regulating microvesicle biogenesis and multidrug
659 resistance in cancer. *Proteomics*, e1800165.
660 41. van Niel, G. et al. (2018) Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nat Rev Mol*
661 *Cell Biol* 19 (4), 213-228.
662 42. Torrano, V. et al. (2016) Vesicle-MaNiA: extracellular vesicles in liquid biopsy and cancer. *Curr*
663 *Opin Pharmacol* 29, 47-53.
664 43. Garcia-Romero, N. et al. (2018) Extracellular vesicles compartment in liquid biopsies: Clinical
665 application. *Mol Aspects Med* 60, 27-37.
666 44. Fleischhacker, M. and Schmidt, B. (2007) Circulating nucleic acids (CNAs) and cancer—a survey.
667 *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1775 (1), 181-232.
668 45. Melo, S.A. et al. (2015) Glypican-1 identifies cancer exosomes and detects early pancreatic
669 cancer. *Nature* 523 (7559), 177-82.
670 46. Krishnan, S.R. et al. (2016) Isolation of Human CD138(+) Microparticles from the Plasma of
671 Patients with Multiple Myeloma. *Neoplasia* 18 (1), 25-32.
672 47. Wang, C.C. et al. (2017) Circulating microparticles are prognostic biomarkers in advanced non-
673 small cell lung cancer patients. *Oncotarget* 8 (44), 75952-75967.
674 48. Allenson, K. et al. (2017) High prevalence of mutant KRAS in circulating exosome-derived DNA
675 from early-stage pancreatic cancer patients. *Ann Oncol* 28 (4), 741-747.
676 49. Moon, P.G. et al. (2016) Identification of Developmental Endothelial Locus-1 on Circulating
677 Extracellular Vesicles as a Novel Biomarker for Early Breast Cancer Detection. *Clin Cancer Res* 22 (7),
678 1757-66.
679 50. Moon, P.G. et al. (2016) Fibronectin on circulating extracellular vesicles as a liquid biopsy to
680 detect breast cancer. *Oncotarget* 7 (26), 40189-40199.
681 51. Julich-Haertel, H. et al. (2017) Cancer-associated circulating large extracellular vesicles in
682 cholangiocarcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 67 (2), 282-292.
683 52. Willms, A. et al. (2016) Tumour-associated circulating microparticles: A novel liquid biopsy tool
684 for screening and therapy monitoring of colorectal carcinoma and other epithelial neoplasia.
685 *Oncotarget* 7 (21), 30867-75.
686 53. Clayton, A. et al. (2018) Summary of the ISEV workshop on extracellular vesicles as disease
687 biomarkers, held in Birmingham, UK, during December 2017, *J Extracell Vesicles*. 2018;7(1):1473707.
688 doi:10.1080/20013078.2018.1473707.
689 54. Théry, C. et al. (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018):
690 a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the
691 MISEV2014 guidelines. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 7 (1), 1535750.
692 55. Armstrong, D. and Wildman, D.E. (2018) Extracellular Vesicles and the Promise of Continuous
693 Liquid Biopsies. *J Pathol Transl Med* 52 (1), 1-8.
694 56. Taylor, D.D. and Shah, S. (2015) Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream
695 analyses of their cargoes. *Methods* 87, 3-10.
696 57. Butvilovskaya, V.I. et al. (2017) [Hydrogel microchip as a tool for studying exosomes in human
697 serum]. *Mol Biol (Mosk)* 51 (5), 817-823.
698 58. Wang, W. et al. (2018) Recent Progress in Isolation and Detection of Extracellular Vesicles for
699 Cancer Diagnostics. *Adv Healthc Mater*, e1800484.
700 59. Lewis, J.M. et al. (2018) Integrated Analysis of Exosomal Protein Biomarkers on Alternating
701 Current Electrokinetic Chips Enables Rapid Detection of Pancreatic Cancer in Patient Blood. *ACS*
702 *Nano* 12 (4), 3311-3320.
703 60. Wang, Z. et al. (2013) Ciliated micropillars for the microfluidic-based isolation of nanoscale lipid
704 vesicles. *Lab Chip* 13 (15), 2879-82.
705 61. Kanwar, S.S. et al. (2014) Microfluidic device (ExoChip) for on-chip isolation, quantification and
706 characterization of circulating exosomes. *Lab Chip* 14 (11), 1891-900.
707 62. Tay, H.M. et al. (2017) Rapid purification of sub-micrometer particles for enhanced drug release
708 and microvesicles isolation. *Npg Asia Materials* 9, e434.

709 63. Ko, J. et al. (2018) Machine learning to detect signatures of disease in liquid biopsies - a user's
710 guide. *Lab Chip* 18 (3), 395-405.

711 64. Liu, C. et al. (2018) Recent Advances in Exosomal Protein Detection Via Liquid Biopsy Biosensors
712 for Cancer Screening, Diagnosis, and Prognosis. *Aaps j* 20 (2), 41.

713 65. Carnell-Morris, P. et al. (2017) Analysis of Extracellular Vesicles Using Fluorescence Nanoparticle
714 Tracking Analysis. *Methods Mol Biol* 1660, 153-173.

715 66. Stroun, M. et al. (1978) Presence of RNA in the nucleoprotein complex spontaneously released
716 by human lymphocytes and frog auricles in culture. *Cancer Res* 38 (10), 3546-54.

717 67. Wieczorek, A.J. et al. (1987) Diagnostic and prognostic value of RNA-proteolipid in sera of
718 patients with malignant disorders following therapy: first clinical evaluation of a novel tumor marker.
719 *Cancer Res* 47 (23), 6407-12.

720 68. Tsui, N.B. et al. (2002) Stability of endogenous and added RNA in blood specimens, serum, and
721 plasma. *Clin Chem* 48 (10), 1647-53.

722 69. Arroyo, J.D. et al. (2011) Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs
723 independent of vesicles in human plasma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108 (12), 5003-8.

724 70. Zaporozhchenko, I.A. et al. (2018) The potential of circulating cell-free RNA as a cancer
725 biomarker: challenges and opportunities. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* 18 (2), 133-145.

726 71. Pellegrini, K.L. et al. (2015) RNA biomarkers to facilitate the identification of aggressive prostate
727 cancer. *Mol Aspects Med* 45, 37-46.

728 72. Hao, Y.X. et al. (2017) KRAS and BRAF mutations in serum exosomes from patients with
729 colorectal cancer in a Chinese population. *Oncol Lett* 13 (5), 3608-3616.

730 73. Manda, S.V. et al. (2018) Exosomes as a biomarker platform for detecting epidermal growth
731 factor receptor-positive high-grade gliomas. *J Neurosurg* 128 (4), 1091-1101.

732 74. Del Re, M. et al. (2017) The Detection of Androgen Receptor Splice Variant 7 in Plasma-derived
733 Exosomal RNA Strongly Predicts Resistance to Hormonal Therapy in Metastatic Prostate Cancer
734 Patients. *Eur Urol* 71 (4), 680-687.

735 75. Aguado, C. et al. (2016) Fusion gene and splice variant analyses in liquid biopsies of lung cancer
736 patients. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* 5 (5), 525-531.

737 76. March-Villalba, J.A. et al. (2012) Cell-free circulating plasma hTERT mRNA is a useful marker for
738 prostate cancer diagnosis and is associated with poor prognosis tumor characteristics. *PLoS One* 7
739 (8), e43470.

740 77. Xu, Y.F. et al. (2017) Plasma exosome miR-196a and miR-1246 are potential indicators of
741 localized pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget* 8 (44), 77028-77040.

742 78. Jin, X. et al. (2017) Evaluation of Tumor-Derived Exosomal miRNA as Potential Diagnostic
743 Biomarkers for Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Using Next-Generation Sequencing. *Clin*
744 *Cancer Res* 23 (17), 5311-5319.

745 79. Liu, Q. et al. (2017) Circulating exosomal microRNAs as prognostic biomarkers for non-small-cell
746 lung cancer. *Oncotarget* 8 (8), 13048-13058.

747 80. Santangelo, A. et al. (2018) A microRNA signature from serum exosomes of patients with glioma
748 as complementary diagnostic biomarker. *J Neurooncol* 136 (1), 51-62.

749 81. Li, Q. et al. (2015) Plasma long noncoding RNA protected by exosomes as a potential stable
750 biomarker for gastric cancer. *Tumour Biol* 36 (3), 2007-12.

751 82. Dong, L. et al. (2016) Circulating Long RNAs in Serum Extracellular Vesicles: Their
752 Characterization and Potential Application as Biomarkers for Diagnosis of Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer*
753 *Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 25 (7), 1158-66.

754 83. Tan, S.K. et al. (2018) Serum long noncoding RNA HOTAIR as a novel diagnostic and prognostic
755 biomarker in glioblastoma multiforme. *Mol Cancer* 17 (1), 74.

756 84. Zhang, K. et al. (2017) Genome-Wide lncRNA Microarray Profiling Identifies Novel Circulating
757 lncRNAs for Detection of Gastric Cancer. *Theranostics* 7 (1), 213-227.

758 85. Sourvinou, I.S. et al. (2013) Quantification of circulating miRNAs in plasma: effect of preanalytical
759 and analytical parameters on their isolation and stability. *J Mol Diagn* 15 (6), 827-34.

760 86. Potrich, C. et al. (2014) OncomiR detection in circulating body fluids: a PDMS microdevice
761 perspective. *Lab Chip* 14 (20), 4067-75.

762 87. Zhang, K. et al. (2015) Digital quantification of miRNA directly in plasma using integrated
763 comprehensive droplet digital detection. *Lab Chip* 15 (21), 4217-26.

764 88. Calverley, D.C. et al. (2010) Significant downregulation of platelet gene expression in metastatic
765 lung cancer. *Clin Transl Sci* 3 (5), 227-32.

766 89. Nilsson, R.J. et al. (2011) Blood platelets contain tumor-derived RNA biomarkers. *Blood* 118 (13),
767 3680-3.

768 90. Best, M.G. et al. (2015) RNA-Seq of Tumor-Educated Platelets Enables Blood-Based Pan-Cancer,
769 Multiclass, and Molecular Pathway Cancer Diagnostics. *Cancer Cell* 28 (5), 666-676.

770 91. Best, M.G. et al. (2017) Swarm Intelligence-Enhanced Detection of Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer
771 Using Tumor-Educated Platelets. *Cancer Cell* 32 (2), 238-252.e9.

772 92. Torga, G. and Pienta, K.J. (2018) Patient-paired sample congruence between 2 commercial liquid
773 biopsy tests. *JAMA Oncology* 4 (6), 868-870.

774 93. Merker, J.D. et al. (2018) Circulating Tumor DNA Analysis in Patients With Cancer: American
775 Society of Clinical Oncology and College of American Pathologists Joint Review. *Journal of Clinical*
776 *Oncology* 36 (16), 1631-1641.

777 94. Cabel, L. et al. (2017) Circulating tumor cells: clinical validity and utility. *International Journal of*
778 *Clinical Oncology* 22 (3), 421-430.

779 95. Tsao, C.W. (2016) Polymer Microfluidics: Simple, Low-Cost Fabrication Process Bridging
780 Academic Lab Research to Commercialized Production. *Micromachines (Basel)* 7 (12).

781 96. Peng, M. et al. (2017) Non-blood circulating tumor DNA detection in cancer. *Oncotarget* 8 (40),
782 69162-69173.

783 97. Lousada-Fernandez, F. et al. (2018) Liquid Biopsy in Oral Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* 19 (6).

784 98. Lu, T. and Li, J. (2017) Clinical applications of urinary cell-free DNA in cancer: current insights and
785 promising future. *Am J Cancer Res* 7 (11), 2318-2332.

786 99. Dhondt, B. et al. (2018) Urinary extracellular vesicle biomarkers in urological cancers: From
787 discovery towards clinical implementation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 99, 236-256.

788 100. Durand, X. et al. (2011) ProgenSA PCA3 test for prostate cancer. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* 11 (2),
789 137-44.

790 101. Cao, Y. et al. (2018) Methylated genomic loci encoding microRNA as a biomarker panel in tissue
791 and saliva for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Epigenetics* 10, 43.

792 102. Maheswari, T.N.U. et al. (2018) Salivary micro RNA as a potential biomarker in oral potentially
793 malignant disorders: A systematic review. *Ci Ji Yi Xue Za Zhi* 30 (2), 55-60.

794 103. Gai, C. et al. (2018) Salivary extracellular vesicle-associated miRNAs as potential biomarkers in
795 oral squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* 18 (1), 439.

796 104. Bettgowda, C. et al. (2014) Detection of circulating tumor DNA in early- and late-stage human
797 malignancies. *Sci Transl Med* 6 (224), 224ra24.

798 105. De Mattos-Arruda, L. et al. (2015) Cerebrospinal fluid-derived circulating tumour DNA better
799 represents the genomic alterations of brain tumours than plasma. *Nat Commun* 6, 8839.

800 106. Akers, J.C. et al. (2017) A cerebrospinal fluid microRNA signature as biomarker for glioblastoma.
801 *Oncotarget* 8 (40), 68769-68779.

802 107. Kisiel, J.B. et al. (2018) Analysis of DNA Methylation at Specific Loci in Stool Samples Detects
803 Colorectal Cancer and High-grade Dysplasia in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin*
804 *Gastroenterol Hepatol*.

805 108. Rangel, M.P. et al. (2018) Detection of sputum cofilin-1 as indicator of malignancy. *Braz J Med*
806 *Biol Res* 51 (8), e7138.

807 109. Yeo, C.D. et al. (2013) Detection and comparison of EGFR mutations in matched tumor tissues,
808 cell blocks, pleural effusions, and sera from patients with NSCLC with malignant pleural effusion, by
809 PNA clamping and direct sequencing. *Lung Cancer* 81 (2), 207-12.

810 110. Fujii, M. et al. (2012) Aberrant DNA methylation profile in pleural fluid for differential diagnosis
811 of malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Cancer Sci* 103 (3), 510-4.
812 111. Roca, E. et al. (2016) Detection of EpCAM-positive microparticles in pleural fluid: A new
813 approach to mini-invasively identify patients with malignant pleural effusions. *Oncotarget* 7 (3),
814 3357-66.
815 112. Hyun, K.A. et al. (2016) Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition leads to loss of EpCAM and
816 different physical properties in circulating tumor cells from metastatic breast cancer. *Oncotarget* 7
817 (17), 24677-87.
818 113. Gao, W. et al. (2018) Highly sensitive detection and mutational analysis of lung cancer
819 circulating tumor cells using integrated combined immunomagnetic beads with a droplet digital PCR
820 chip. *Talanta* 185, 229-236.
821 114. Liu, Z. et al. (2011) Negative enrichment by immunomagnetic nanobeads for unbiased
822 characterization of circulating tumor cells from peripheral blood of cancer patients. *J Transl Med* 9,
823 70.
824 115. Sequist, L.V. et al. (2009) The CTC-chip: an exciting new tool to detect circulating tumor cells in
825 lung cancer patients. *J Thorac Oncol* 4 (3), 281-3.
826 116. Jan, Y.J. et al. (2018) NanoVelcro rare-cell assays for detection and characterization of
827 circulating tumor cells. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 125, 78-93.
828 117. Markou, A. et al. (2018) Multiplex Gene Expression Profiling of In Vivo Isolated Circulating
829 Tumor Cells in High-Risk Prostate Cancer Patients. *Clin Chem* 64 (2), 297-306.
830 118. Vona, G. et al. (2000) Isolation by size of epithelial tumor cells : a new method for the
831 immunomorphological and molecular characterization of circulating tumor cells. *Am J Pathol* 156 (1),
832 57-63.
833 119. Bobek, V. et al. (2014) Detection and cultivation of circulating tumor cells in malignant pleural
834 mesothelioma. *Anticancer Res* 34 (5), 2565-9.
835 120. Chudziak, J. et al. (2016) Clinical evaluation of a novel microfluidic device for epitope-
836 independent enrichment of circulating tumour cells in patients with small cell lung cancer. *Analyst*
837 141 (2), 669-78.
838 121. Lampignano, R. et al. (2017) A Novel Workflow to Enrich and Isolate Patient-Matched
839 EpCAM(high) and EpCAM(low/negative) CTCs Enables the Comparative Characterization of the
840 PIK3CA Status in Metastatic Breast Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* 18 (9).
841 122. Khoo, B.L. et al. (2014) Clinical validation of an ultra high-throughput spiral microfluidics for the
842 detection and enrichment of viable circulating tumor cells. *PLoS One* 9 (7), e99409.
843 123. Ramirez, A.B. et al. (2017) RareCyte(R) CTC Analysis Step 1: AccuCyte(R) Sample Preparation for
844 the Comprehensive Recovery of Nucleated Cells from Whole Blood. *Methods Mol Biol* 1634, 163-
845 172.
846 124. Durmus, N.G. et al. (2015) Magnetic levitation of single cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112 (28),
847 E3661-8.
848 125. Gascoyne, P.R. and Shim, S. (2014) Isolation of circulating tumor cells by dielectrophoresis.
849 *Cancers (Basel)* 6 (1), 545-79.
850 126. Waheed, W. et al. (2018) Lateral fluid flow fractionation using dielectrophoresis (LFFF-DEP) for
851 size-independent, label-free isolation of circulating tumor cells. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol*
852 *Biomed Life Sci* 1087-1088, 133-137.
853 127. De Luca, F. et al. (2016) Mutational analysis of single circulating tumor cells by next generation
854 sequencing in metastatic breast cancer. *Oncotarget* 7 (18), 26107-19.
855 128. Tulley, S. et al. (2016) Vita-Assay Method of Enrichment and Identification of Circulating Cancer
856 Cells/Circulating Tumor Cells (CTCs). *Methods Mol Biol* 1406, 107-19.
857 129. Alix-Panabieres, C. (2012) EPISPOT assay: detection of viable DTCs/CTCs in solid tumor patients.
858 *Recent Results Cancer Res* 195, 69-76.

859 130. Togo, S. et al. (2017) Sensitive detection of viable circulating tumor cells using a novel
860 conditionally telomerase-selective replicating adenovirus in non-small cell lung cancer patients.
861 Oncotarget 8 (21), 34884-34895.

862

863 **Figure Legend:**

864 **Figure 1, Key Figure– Components of the Tumor Circulome**

865 The Tumor Circulome comprises all the tumor-derived elements circulating in the
866 bloodstream that can be used, directly or indirectly, as a source of cancer biomarkers. It
867 includes circulating tumor proteins, ~~TEPs~~, ctDNA, ~~tumor-derived EVs~~, CTCs, ~~tumor-derived EVs~~
868 ~~and their constituents, and~~ ctRNAs ~~and TEPs~~. Each of these components ~~has provide~~ one or
869 more levels of information.

870 The measurement of the concentration of ~~single proteins or panels composed of multiple~~
871 tumor proteins is ~~the~~ current gold standard ~~used in cancer management. –for relapse~~
872 ~~detection. As single proteins may not be totally informative, the use of panels of proteins is a~~
873 ~~current trend.~~ The information detectable from ctDNA include; ~~s~~ mutations, deletions, gene

874 amplifications, methylation patterns and translocations. CTCs ~~provide a rich source of~~
875 genomic, proteomic, transcriptomic and cytogenetic ~~information and can be cultured ex vivo~~
876 ~~to perform personalized drug sensitivity testing The. The ex vivo culture of CTCs allows~~
877 ~~clinicians to perform personalized drug sensitivity tests to help in the treatment decision-~~
878 ~~making process. constituents of~~ Extracellular Vesicles (EV) provides a “molecular fingerprint”

879 of the tumor cells ~~of origin~~, and ~~their DNA-, RNA and protein (both surface and intraluminal)~~
880 ~~content provides a rich source of~~ cancer biomarkers. ctRNA, including EV-associated
881 circulating RNA, includes different RNA classes. Among these, miRNA expression panels and
882 lncRNA expression are good sources of quantitative biomarker information. ~~Furthermore,~~

883 ~~q~~Qualitative information such as the presence of tumor-specific ~~alternatively spliced~~
884 ~~transcripts and gene fusion transcripts alternative splicing and gene fusions~~ can also be
885 obtained ~~from this source~~. The platelets of cancer patients or tumor educated platelets (TEPs)

Commented [MK(58)]: I would suggest modifying this sentence and the Figure such that the authors start with ctDNA, CTCs, EVs, ctRNAs, TEPs and then tumor proteins.

The logic is that the Figure and consequently its legend follow the description in main text. While a small and more of a stylistic issue, I believe this has the potential to increase the ease of readability of the manuscript and would encourage the authors to incorporate this.

Commented [GDR59R58]: Done. We modified the sentence and the Figure showing the different components in the same order in which they're described in the text

Commented [MB60]: Are you measuring concentrations?

Commented [GDR61R60]: yes

Commented [MK(62)]: This is the information on tumor proteins I earlier mentioned. Would it be right to make a separate section for this in the main text and elucidate a bit?

This can then be shortened here.

Commented [GDR63R62]: Done. We reduced this sentence and added a small paragraphs on circulating tumor proteins. Please see comment on the TEP chapter for more detailed explanation

Commented [MK(64)]: Please recheck...the Figure only says luminal?

Commented [GDR65R64]: The Figure already said “Surface and luminal proteins”. We changed “luminal” with “intraluminal”, which is more accurate

Commented [MK(66)]: Please involve this information in the main text too where I suggest more correlation of the main text with the Figure.

Commented [GDR67R66]: It is already included in the main text

Commented [MK(68)]: This would be incorporated in the main text and shortened here.

Commented [GDR69R68]: It was already in the main text. We shortened the sentence a bit

886 are also source of biomarker information, contain^{ing} tumor-derived RNAs, ~~generating~~
887 ~~specific platelet cancer signatures~~, and tumor-induced alternatively spliced transcripts.

888 Abbreviations used- CTC: Circulating Tumor Cells; ctDNA: circulating tumor DNA; ctRNA:
889 circulating tumor RNA; EV: Extracellular vesicle; lncRNA: long non-coding RNA; miRNA:
890 microRNA; mRNA: messenger RNA; nc-RNA: non-coding RNA; TEP: tumor-educated platelet.

891

892